

To the honorable Hugh L White & John
Overton Esquires Judges of the Court of
errors and appeals sitting in Equity for
the second circuit

Humbly complaining sheweth unto your honors
your orator Miles Cunningham a Citizen of
Blount County within said circuit that about the
6th day of March in the year 1813 a certain Banner
Shields of the County of Blount bargained and sold
to certain Ruben Charles of said County a negro
fellow by the name of Shanley

which the said Banner represented to be a slave property
and the said Ruben agreed to pay for said negro the
sum of two hundred and fifty dollars to be paid on
or before the tenth day of August next ensuing
said 6th of March and for which the said Ruben
was to give the said Banner a Bond with security

Your orator further states that the said Ruben
then was possessed of considerable property both
real and personal in the County of Blount
which the said Banner well knew

Your orator further states that the said Ruben
applied to your orator to enter into a Bond to the
said Shields for said sum as the security of said Ruben
which your orator declined, ^{unless said Ruben would procure another good one} and that after your
orator had so refused the said Banner being informed of
your orator's refusal to bind himself as security
for said Ruben for said sum to said Banner
applied to several persons of considerable property
in the neighbourhood of your orator's residence to
become the security of said Ruben stating all
he wished was to cause your orator to be bound
as security for said sum that he might have
an opportunity to compel your orator to pay
the sum above mentioned to said Banner

as thereby the said Banner would want his ill will
on your orator and after the said Banner had
applied to one Jonathan Trappitt of said County
to be one of the securities of ~~your orator~~ said
Rumber to defraud your orator and offered to
enter into a Bond not to compel said Trappitt to
pay one cent and after said Trappitt had declined
to do so the said Banner applied to one Samuel
Harris of Blount County and made as to your
orator a secret agreement with said Harris
that he should become one of the securities of
said Rumber in a bond for the price of said
negro and that your orator should thereby be
induced to become one of said Rumber's securities
and your orator charges expressly that before
the making said Bond it was expressly agreed by
and between the said Banner and the said Harris
that the said Harris should never pay one cent to
said Banner in consequence of said Bond
Your orator further charges that he was
induced knowing said Harris to be very ~~good~~
~~able~~ to pay said sum to enter into said Bond
as one of the securities of said ^{Rumber for said} sum without
any knowledge of the fraudulent agreement
before stated between said Banner and said
Harris and at the request of said Banner

Your orator further charges that the said negro
was not a slave for life but on the contrary
would in a year ^{or two} after said sale of him be
entitled to his freedom and said Banner bound
by the will of his said Banner father to man-
-cipate him as your orator has been informed
and believe

Your orator further states that after the
money become due for which he was bound
by said bond as one of the securities of said
Rumber he said Banner instituted a suit
in the circuit Court ~~of~~ of Blount County
on said Bond against said Rumber your
orator and said Harris and at the January

Term of said Court last recovered on
Judgment against your orator the said
Ruben and the said Harris for the sum of
about two hundred and sixty four dollars
beside costs

Your orator further states that at the time
of the trial in the circuit Court the said
Banner and the said Harris had so managed
as to keep the agreement that said Harris
should only nominally be a security in said
Bond entirely secret or unknown to your
orator and he was called as one of the
jury on said trial and supposing the debt
was a just one gave a verdict for the
Plaintiff as one of the jury

Your orator further charges that after
suit was brought by said Banner the said
Ruben was as your orator believes con-
-fined to leave the Country for his enemy
and left in the Country no means of pay-
-ing said debt or any part thereof and
that it is designed by the said Banner and
the said Harris to compel your orator
to pay the whole of said debt & costs
when your orator is advised owing to
the fraud of the said Banner and the said
Harris he in Equity is not bound to pay
any part of said debt or costs and that
the said Banner and said Ruben ought
to be left to settle the business as they can

Your orator prays that the said Banner
Shields and the said Samuel Harris may be
made parties to this his bill with apt
words to charge them here

In tender consideration whereof the your orator
prays and for as much as your orator is
only relievable in this Court when fraud
and oppression are relieved against to the
and therefore that the said Banner and

Shields and the said Samuel Harris full true
and perfect answer make to all and singular
the premises aforesaid as fully as if the same was
herein again repeated and they particularly
therein interrogated and more especially of the matters
and things herein before stated are not true

Your orator prays that your honors may decree
and that the said Banner may be perpetually enjoined
from proceeding under or by virtue of said judgment
against your orator and that if your orator
has mistaken his relief your honors will grant to
him such other and further relief as is suitable
to his case Your orator prays your honors
to grant writs of injunction and subpoena as
the law directs &c

E. Parron atto.

State of Tennessee

Knoss County

This 11th day of October 1844 personally
appeared Miles Cunningham before
me Hugh L White one of the judges
of the court of errors and appeals in
said State and made oath the matters and
things contained in the within and foregoing
Bill of complaint are true to the best of
his knowledge ~~sworn and subscribed the day~~
~~and date above written~~

Known to and subscribed

Miles Cunningham
mark

Before me

H. L. White

To the Clerk of the Supreme Court for the Second Circuit

Let a writ of injunction issue upon taking \$100 security
for judg. & costs and interest

H. L. White

One of the judges &c

13 3/4 copy sheet

Permitted to a commission from the Honorable
the Supreme Court of Errors & Appeals directed
to two Justices of the Peace of the County
of Belmont or to any one of them in a matter
of controversy in said Court depending in Equity
Wherin Miles Cunningham is Complainant and
Bonner Shields & Samuel Harris are defend-
ants I have caused to come before me at the
house of Jesse Wallace in the Town of
Chargville on the 2^d day of Sept^r 1815 between
the hours of twelve and four the best men who
have been herein after appointed viz

Jonathan Parpette a witness of fifty years of
of age in presence of the parties deposed
& said as follows to wit

That Mr Shields made application to me for
to be security for Reubin Charles with
Miles Cunningham for two hundred & fifty
Dollars the price of a Negro I made this
reply that I had refus^d being security repea-
tedly Mr Shields made application again
and said if I would it would much oblige
him I told ~~he~~ he (Shields) said he believed
Reubin Charles or some of his connections had
the negro I told ^{him} I believ^d they had myself
I wil deny^d being security I dislike^d Charles
& his connections & told Shields if I was securi-
ty I should have at least to one half of the debt

Mr Shields replied if I would be security he would
give me an indemnified bond if I requested
I told ^{him} I would be very fond to oblige him that
I would not promise him then but I would meet
him in Marvill on the day that Mr Shields
& he were Charles had appointed to meet
I came to Marvill the day that Shields told me
& met with Mr Shield My reasons for not being
security was I had studied the matter over &
I thought I should be safe if I had an indem-
nified bond but I thought that would ^{not} believe
the other security perhaps he might enter because
I did I might reflect on me I saw the writing
given by Charles with Miles Cunningham and
Samuel Harrip's securities

Question by the plaintiffs Attorney
Did Samuel Harrip know ^{anything} of
Shields offering you a bond to indemnify
you Answer I don't know as he did
By the same Did Shields tell you unless you
or some good man was security Cunningham
would not be Answer I believe he did to
the best of my knowledge

By the same Did Harrip hear you and Shields
talk of Shields wishing you to be security
Answer I do not know that he did

By the same Did Harrip ask you on what
terms Shields wanted you to be security
Answer he did some time after the bond
was given how long I don't recollect it was
a short time afterwards I replied to Harrip

the terms exactly as Shields proposed & as stated
before in this deposition

By the same Did Shields at any time state to
you that Harrip was security on the terms ~~you~~
~~prop.~~ he Shields proposed to you or any thing
to that effect

Answer I dont know as he did In the conversation
with Shields at Marlings Mr Shields said if they
had confes'd judgment he would not have exacted
so tight upon them he gave as a reason if they
had confes'd judgment at the first Court perhaps
would have got his pay of Charls

By the same Did you ever ask if Samuel Harrip
was not security on the terms Shields you to be

Answer I think I did that day at Marlings
but I do not know that he gave me an answer

By the same Did you tell Shields he would
sacrifice his word and honour if he did make
Harrip pay ~~and what did he say~~

Answer I did If he made the same bargain
with Mr Harrip he propos'd to me Shields said
if Harrip had confes'd judgment at the first Court
he would not have made him pay any thing

Question by Shields one of the Defendants

Did I ever ask you but once to be security
for Keubin Charls

Answer I dont know as you did

By the same Did you not agree to be security by
me giving you an indemnifying bond

Answer I did not but said I would consider
on it & give ~~you~~ ^{you} an answer the day they
were to meet in Maryville

By the same Was it not on the same day that
I appli'd to you to be security that I made
the sale to Reubin Charles

Answer Mr Shields told me so

By the same When I appli'd to you to be
security did you not tell me that Reubin
Charles would ^{not} give good security, ~~if he did~~
~~not~~ you would upon the condition of me
giving an indemnifying bond

Answer I did not to my knowledge

By the same Where were we when I appli'd
to you to be security for Charles

Answer To the best of my knowledge it
was on my own plantation

Question by Harris one of the Defendants

Did you ever understand from Mr Shields that
the negro he shuldor sold to Reubin Charles
was in any future time to be free

Answer I had often ^{heard} Mr Shields say the negro was to
be free

Question by Shields one of the Defendants

Upon what terms ^{did} you understand the
Negro was to be free

Answer On the terms of your Fathers
Will as you said

Question by Cunninghams Attorney

At what time did you understand the Negro
was to be free

Answer To the best of my knowledge at
the age of thirty one or two years as I under-
stood from Shields And further this
Deponent saith not

Joseph Alexander a witness aged forty four years

after being duly sworn deposes and saith
the parties present (W^m Shields one of the
Defendants objects to the examination of this
witness on the ground that he has no Attorney
present and that he had no notice this witness
was to be examined) in answer to the
following questions by the complainant

Attorney Did Wanner Shields ever tell you
that Negro Charles was to be free at the
age of thirty one or two years

Answer he did to the best of my knowledge

And further this Deponent saith not

Joseph Alexander
This

George Koulster a witness aged twenty five
deposed and saith the parties being present
and after having been duly sworn In answer
to the following question by the complainant
Did you ever hear M^r Shield say that
Samuel Harris was not to be accountable to him as the
Security of Reuben Charles that his having signed
the note was in confidence in him (Shield) or
any words to that effect

Answer I went with M^r Harris to Shields
own house M^r Harris then told Shields that what
he had then done was through confidence that
he had plac^d in him Shields it was to befriend
him in what he had ^{plac^d} done Shields said Harris
had befriended him much and if he had not threatened
him with the Gallows he would not ^{have} done as he did

Question by Samuel Harris one of the Defendants
Did you not understand the conversation which
you heard between Shields and Harris was relative to
Harris being security for Reuben Charles on
a note for the price of a negro

Answer I did

By the same Did you hear M^r Shield tell
Samuel Harris at the same time that he Shields
would stay the judgment he had obtain^d against
Harris and Cunningham if that act would not
render the judgment said against both

Answer I did

Question by Shields one of the Defendants
How did you understand by the conversation
between Harnett and me that it was relative to
Harnett's being security for the price of a Negro

Answer I understood from Shields own mouth
that it was for the price of a Negro Keuben
Chasls had bought from him Shields

By the same At what time did you hear me
say so

Answer At the same time the above
conversation took place

And further this Deponant saith not

George Rowland

Thomas Mier a witness aged forty after being
duly sworn the parties being present Depoeth
and saith (Shields objects as above) In answer

to the following question by the complainants
Attorney Did you ever hear Banner Shields say
that Negro Chasls was to be free at any future
time and if so at what time

Answer I heard Banner Shields saying that
when a sale was made or making of the Negroes
one of his brothers said to him if he would
take Chasls he would take Bob and this would
fill up the sale and I understood they ~~were~~
had agreed to set the Negroes free but at what
time I do not recollect likewise he Shields told
me that it was free choice with them to set
any of them free if he did not behave
better he would set him free And further
this

This Deponent saith not

Thos. W. Harris

William Harris a witness aged thirty seven
having been first duly sworn in the presence
of the parties deponent and saith (Shield objects
as above). That he heard Banner Shields say
that Negro Charles was to be free if he behaved
himself and also at another time he Shields
said he would sell the Negro to Charles ^{perhaps} if he thought
Charles was able to pay him or give security
and ask me if I thought he could

Question by the complainant's Attorney
What was Negro Charles worth provide he had
been a slave for life

Answer I think the Negro was worth four
hundred & fifty dollars

and further this deponent saith not

W. Harris

John B. Busick a witness aged forty two ^{years} who
being first duly sworn in presence of the
parties deponent and saith ^{Shield objects as above} That some
time (as I understood) before the sale of the
Negro to Ruben Charles he Shields said he
would sell the Negro for two hundred and
fifty dollars ^{and} that he was to be free in two
years and one half

Question by the complainant's Attorney

How much do you believe said Negro was worth
if he had been a slave for life

Answer he appeared like he might be worth
five hundred dollars

And further this deponant saith not.

John B. Cogges

James McCallan a witness aged twenty eight years
being first duly sworn in presence of the parties
(Shields objects as above) Deposeth and saith

That he heard Mr Harris say he did not want
his wife to know that he was security for Charles
I think Mr Shields said she should not know it
from him also the same evening of the sale
when Doctor Gantt was reading the bill of sale
Miles Cunningham swore by his maker
that shield had fired himself by selling
a free negro Shields replied he was to be
free but he wish'd to God he would get
him and make him a slave for life

And further this deponant saith not

James McCallan

David Cunningham a witness thirty nine
years of age being first duly sworn Touch
ing his interest in the cause and afterwards
sworn in chief to give evidence deposeth
and saith in presence of the complainant
and Samuel Harris one of the defendants
the defendant Shields being absent altho
he Shields was told Cunningham would be
sworn a witness in the cause

That Wanner Shields frequently proposed
selling the negro Charles to me before he
sold him to the Revkin Charles I refus'd
to buy him from Mr Shields own word the
negro

negro was to be free in a short time but
said he shield I wish I could sell him to some
person who would make him a slave during
life. shield wanted ^{me} to punch the negro and
run him down the river saying I shall sell
him and you might as well have a bargain
as another shield expressing himself ^{that} the negro
was to be free in about sixteen months

I asked Mr shield if he would be willing to give
a firm bill of sale he shield said it was hardly
worth while perhaps says he you could make
sale of him without giving a bill of sale
said I Mr shield I will have nothing to do
with your negro and further this deponent
saith not

his
David X Cunningham
mark

State of Tennessee }
Blount County } I James Gillerpy one
of the Justices of the Peace
for the County aforesaid do hereby certify that
I have diligently examined the witnesses who
have subscribed their names to the inclosed
Depositions as well on behalf of Miles Cunningham
Complainant as Warner shield and Samuel
Harris Defendants at the house of Jesse
Walker in the town of Maryville on the second
day of September 1815 ^{and the same in your handwriting} Green under
my hand and seal the day and date above

James Gillerpy Seal

Miles Cunningham
or
Harris & Shields
Depositions

State of Tennessee

Supreme Court } May Term 1815

The separate answer of Samuel Harris
to the Bill of Complaint of Miles Cunningham
exhibited in the honorable ^{Supreme} Court of Appeals
for the Second Circuit against the Defendant
and one Banner Shields

This defendant saving and reserving to himself
all and all manner of advantage and benefit
of exception to the many ^{untruths} errors, and insufficiencies
in said Bill contained for answer thereto
or so much thereof as will be material for
him to make answer unto answereth and
saith that he admits it to be true that
the complainant together with the Defen-
= ant at the time stated entered into the bond
stated by the complainant as the security of the
said Rowen Charles for the sum stated in the Com-
= plainant's Bill that the contract stated by
the complainant to have been made between
said Charles & said Shields was made for the
negro as stated in the complainant's Bill

This Defendant for further answer saith that
some short time before the negro was sold by said
Shields to said Charles that Shields came to this
Defendant's house and told this Defendant he
Shields had a negro ^{fellow} run away & that he
suspected Charles or his friends for causing
him to run away and solicited this Defen-
= ant to go to Charles & see if Charles had
land to sell and would buy the change of
said negro which this Defendant ^{at first} declined
stating he was not acquainted with Charles
but by the pressing solicitations of said
Banner did go to see Charles and take him

This Defendant wanted to buy land & could buy
a negro fellow of Shields, which fellow
had run away & would if he bought of
Shields give said fellow in part of the
land Charles was willing to buy and
stated if this Defendant did not buy of
Shields to tell him Charles would buy
& what day he would be in Maryville
where Shields might see him Charles this
Defendant returned and told Shields what
had passed between this Defendant and
Charles and Shields requested this Defend
- ant to be at Maryville on that day

This Defendant states he went to Maryville
the day stated and met there Shields &
Charles Shields informed this Respondent
he had traded with Charles that Charles was
to give him two hundred and fifty dollars
for the negro and was to give him security
that the complainant was to be one
~~and~~ that Jonathan Trippel had agreed to be
another But that he Shields was afraid that
Trippel would fly the way and ^{the} Trippel did
he wanted this Defendant to be Charles's security
upon which request this Defendant stated to
Shields he would not be Charles's security
for one cent whereupon the said Shields
stated he had an agreement with Trippel
& that the same would be made with this
Defendant if he would be security with
Cunningham that Cunningham would
not be security unless Charles got
another that the negro would be free
in a year or two and that any thing
was better than nothing and that
I should never injure this Defendant

and that he must not forsake him
shields on that occasion whereupon
this defendant stated he would see Trippet
and ascertain the agreement shields offered
Trippet he Trippet being close by and
this defendant immediately enquired of
Trippet what bargain Trippet shields
proposed to make with him Trippet stated
shields offered him a Bond of five hundred
= 200 dollars conditioned that Trippet nor his
heirs should never pay one cent in course
= course of being Charles's security and
when this defendant returned to shields
and stated what Trippet said shields said
the same was true and that this defend-
= ant should be in the same situation
Trippet was to have been ⁱⁿ and that
he ^{shields} could forgive his ^{the defendant's} part of ^{the} debt
This defendant states not withstanding all
this the said shields recovered a judgment
against this defendant Charles & comp
= claimant as stated ^{in the Bill} and alleges that the
reason he wants money of this defend-
ant is that this defendant did not comply
a judgment the first term which this
defendant never agreed to do
This defendant states he believes it to be true
as stated by the complainant that Charles
left the country under the circumstances
stated by complainant
This defendant states ^{as shields & Trippet says} he thought Charles
was good for the debt at the time ^{the} contract
was made ^{never at security} and expected he would pay
the money but never thought this defendant

would be called on by Shields to pay any
part of the debt or costs

This Defendant states he entered into the
contract to oblige Shields & not with
a view to injure any person nor for
any other reason than to oblige Shields as the Defendant
would not have went Charles & security for anything
This Defendant denies all fraud where
with he stands charged and prays that
Shields may be perpetually enjoined from
proceeding on said judgment against
This Defendant and whatever else is
ought and that This Defendant may
be dismissed with his reasonable costs
do
J. Harris

State of Tennessee

2nd Circuit Supreme Court of Errors & Appeals

Samuel Harris personally appeared before
me John A. Gamble Deputy Clerk and
Master and being sworn forth that the facts
set forth in the foregoing his answer as of his own
knowledge are true and those as not of his own
knowledge he believes to be true. — 23rd May 1815.

John A. Gamble
D. C. & M.

Received
Samuel Harris

Filed 23 May 1815

Miles Cunningham

Banner Shield & Samuel Davis

This day some the parties by their attorney and this
cause coming on to be heard on the Bill and answer Affirmations
and Testimony adduced and the same being read
The Substantive of which Testimony appears to be that
on or about the 6th day of ~~October~~^{March} 1819 The Defendant
Charles ~~John~~ Charles named in the complaint the
Nephe Thomas named for the sum of two three one and
fifty dollars that said slave had been the property
of William Shields Decedent the Father of the Defendant
Shields that by his last Will and Testament Under date
of the 30th of November 1789 he devised his real and
personal Estate to be sold for the payment of his Debts and
other purposes and the Surplus of the proceeds of the sale
to be thereafter divided among his children & ~~affairs~~
deceased this life that Banner Shields the defendant
named and accepted the Nephe John Charles in satisfac-
tion of his annuity of the Estate of William Shields Decedent
that he was before the 6th day of March 1819 Defendant
Shields was in the possession of said slave and that he was
a slave for life that at the time of the sale and
for some time before ~~the~~^{March} about from his master
the said ^{Shields} without his consent it was suspected that
the slave had been ~~secretly~~^{secretly} and ~~secretly~~^{secretly} by Charles
that Charles and Cunningham were intimate & that
was well known by Davis that the slave was worth

five hundred dollars that a note was executed on or
about the 6th day of March 1813 by Charles Cunningham
and ~~James~~ his Secretary to the defendant ~~Shields~~ & ~~James~~
the payment of the said sum of two hundred and fifty
dollars that after the execution of the said note
Cunningham said to Shields that he should had paid
himself in selling a negro for life that was shortly
to be paid that after the execution of said note
Cunningham said the reason he became the Secretary of
Charles was that Charles had befriended him in assisting
in becoming his Secretary & he could not refuse him
that a suit has been instituted against Shields on
the warranty in the bill of sale given by him to
Charles for said slave in the name of Charles in the
court Court of Albemarle County

that Shields has said an agreement both plain
between Cunningham and his brother that they would
respectfully emancipate the slaves which the
got of their second father's estate that prior to the
6th day of March 1813 Shields applied to Trippitt to
become the Secretary of Charles with Cunningham for the
payment of the consideration money of said slave
and offered at the same time to indemnify him from
the payment of any part thereof that he did
not become the Secretary that this overture
of Shields to Trippitt was communicated to Horns after
the execution of the said note that Charles at the
time the note was given & at the time the which
the writ was returnable to the court Court of Albemarle

county was probably solvent & had property in
said County of North but abandoned on the account
of his crimes That Shuter said that if Harris had
been paid judgment he would not have pursued him
for the money he could have made it out of Charles
he also said he would not have been so import on
Harris as he did not Harris threatened him
with the following That Shuter collected one
third of the money of James from the
other of Harris from which testimony together
with the statement in the Bill had answered
it is ordered adjudged and decreed by the court that
the complainant's Bill be dismissed that the
defendants go hence and that the complainant
pay the costs of this cause

[Faint, illegible handwriting, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page.]

de om

Lunenburg

Shute House

[Faint, illegible handwritten text, likely bleed-through from the reverse side of the page]

this respondent then told the complainant to do as he pleased that he would not take the said Charles Bond for the payment of said sum of money alone although he then might be good but that from the character of the said Charles he was not willing to trust him & that he the complainant might do as he pleased at which conversation Samuel Harris the other respondent was present and observed to this respondent that he considered the said Charles would be good for said sum of money this respondent then told the said Harris that if he Harris thought so he might be his security but that he this respondent would not trust him on which the said complainant and the said Harris agreed together that they would be the security of said Charles if he this respondent would accept them which this respondent agreed to do and shortly afterwards the complainant said Samuel Harris and the said Reuben Charles give to your respondent the note or Bond stated in the complainants bill for the payment of said sum of money at the time therein appointed and this respondent positively denies that he made any agreement either express or implied with the said Harris that he should be exonerated from paying any part of the amount of said Bond or that your respondent should seek his remedy against the complainant nor was there any secret or public agreement or understanding between them to invert the complainant in to be security to the respondent for said Charles this respondent further states that the first he knew of the complainants going to become the security of the said Reuben was from the complainant himself ^{or by Mr. Linnings his brother} who told this respondent that he had agreed to become the security of the said Charles and did not state to him as falsely charged by the complainant in his Bill of complaint that he had declined becoming his said Charles security and this respondent positively denies ever having applied to any person to become the security of the said Charles after he understood that the complainant intended to become one of his securities nor did he apply to any person

at any time to procure the complainant to be his security for the purpose of apprehending or detaining the complainant or compelling him to pay the amount of the consideration of said negro but on the contrary did state explicitly to the complainant that he would not credit the said Charles but he would take him the complainant as security that he the complainant knew the circumstances and character of the said Charles and he could do as he pleased this respondent further states that before he knew that the complainant was to be one of the said Charles' security in a conversation with a certain Jonathan Trippitt of and concerning the sale of the said slave to Charles this respondent stated that he doubted the solvency of said Charles in as much as he considered him a bad man and his property fluctuating and that he would be able to keep his property out of his way but that if he the said Trippitt would become the security of the said Charles in as much as he seemed to think he was good for the money and could aid him this respondent in the collection of said money that this respondent would not collect the money of said Trippitt but denies that he said that he would or intended to collect the amount thereof of said complainant he was in fact not spoken of as this respondent recollects this respondent states expressly that he is not bound by the will of ^{his} Father to emancipate the slave stated in the complainant's Bill but to the contrary the said will directs him to be sold for the payment of debts and other purposes this respondent admits that he instituted suits and recovered the Judgment stated in the complainant's Bill and was proceeding to enforce the collection thereof off the said complainant and said Reuben and Samuel And this ^{respondent} ~~complainant~~ doth deny all manner of unlawful combinations and confederacy unjustly charged against him in and by said complainant's said Bill of complaint without that that any other matter or thing in the said complainant's said Bill of complaint

contained necessary or material for this defendant to
make answer unto and not herein and hereby
well and sufficiently answered unto confessed or
avoided traversed or denied is true all which
matters and things this respondent is ready to
aver maintain and prove and he forth
and humbly prays that he may be hence
dismissed with his reasonable costs and charges
in this behalf most wrongfully sustained
and that he may have the benefit of his
Judgment at Law

Banner Shible

Walter Cunningham
Clerk
Banner Shible

State of Tennessee
Supreme Court of Errors & Appeals
2^d Circuit

Banner Shible personally appeared before
and John H. Gamble Esq. Clerk of the Court in Equity for
the Court aforesaid and being sworn deposes that
the facts set forth in the foregoing answer
to the Bill of Miles Cunningham as of his own
knowledge is true & those set forth as not of
his own knowledge he believes to be true -
Given under my hand this 28th day
of December 1814

John H. Gamble
Clerk

Birmingham

Shields & Harris

This Repleant saving to himself
all advantage of Exception to
the separate Answer of
the Defendant Shields, for Replication thereto
saith his said Bill is true, certain & credible
in this Court; that the said Answer is untrue
uncertain & does not contain a sufficiently
Answer to the allegations of said Bill, and he
prays, as in & by his said Bill he hath already
prayed

Miles for Compt

Replication to
Shields' answer

Shields' answer

Shields' answer

Shields' answer

Shields' answer

Know all men by these presents, that the
Miles Cunningham & Hugh Cunningham &
Andrew Conway are hold & firmly bound
unto Barron Shields, in the sum of
eight thousand Dollars, - and to be void
on Condition, that the said Miles Cunningham
Doth with effect prosecute a Bill in Equity by
him this day exhibited against said Shields &
Saml Harris to enforce a judgment obtained
in the Circuit Court of Blount County
By said Shields against Amos Charles
Saml Harris, then the said Cunningham for
two thousand five hundred Dollars, beside costs
so far as respects him the said Cunningham
or in case of failure that he will pay
said judgment & all costs that may be awarded
against either at Law, or in any said Court
of Equity Witness our hands & seals
this 12th day of October 1814.

Attest

Miles ^{his} Cunningham Seal
Hugh Cunningham Seal

John H. Gamble

Hugh Cunningham Seal

Andrew Conway Seal

Bond

Cum gratia

15
Shiloh H.

Samuel Shields and
 Samuel Harris
 advs
 Miles Cunningham

Jan 20 50

Clerk Emmons

2 subs to answer	\$ 2.50	
2 copies of bill 13 3/4 b.s. each	6.87 1/2	
Impunction	1.50	
4 Rules, filing Bill, answer & Rep	1.00	
Bond	65	
3 sub	75	
1 D. d. Po	50	
4 Continuances	1.00	
sitting for hearing	25	
dissolving impunction	25	
Revising impunction	25	
2 probates	12	
2 affi?	50	\$ 16.14 1/2

Clark Brown

Recording Bill 13 3/4 b. copy sheets	\$ 3.43 3/4	
Harris Ans 10 1/4 b. s.	2.56 1/4	
1 bon. 25. 9 probates 54	79	
Rec. Rep 12 1/2		
Shields ans. 14 1/2 b. s.	3.62 1/2	
Drawing, enrolling & Recording decree 7 1/2 b. s.	5.62 1/2	
Dismission	25	16.29

Shff Doushee 3 witnesses 75. 1 sub to ans. 60	1.35
Galloway 1 witness 25	25
Russell 1 witness 25	25
Witness Ebenezer Shields 6-100-2-1-100-2-1-100-2-2-100-2	26.75
Wm Jeffery 7-36-2-3-72-4-2-28-2	18.44
Jos. Alexander 3-80-4-2-40-2	10.55
Alex. Hart 1-32-4-2-28	5.90
Atto M. Campbell	12.50

Fi Fa

\$ 114.92 1/2
1.25
\$ 112.17 1/2
112.17 1/2

63

62

Bill of costs

Shields & Harris

advs

Cum gratia

State of Tennessee. ^{43 Blount} Under the Sheriff of ~~Blount~~ Blount County Georgia

You are hereby Commanded to summon Samuel Harris personally to be and appear before the Honorable the Supreme Court of Errors & Appeals at the first house in Knoxville on the fourth Monday of November next then and there to answer a Bill in Equity exhibited against him & Daniel Shields by Miles Jamieson and this he shall do in due time & without delay and have you there this Subject Witness Thomas Emerson Clerk of our said Court the fourth Monday of May 1814

Thos. Emerson by his Dep
John H. Gambrell

Tulsa in Equity

Mrs. Cunningham
vs.

Sam. Harris & Co.

Sp. 31st Oct. 1814
to Dec. 1814.

Pr. Nov. 16th
1814

Charles Donohoe S. J. J.

Samuel Harris
not to be found
in My County

Charles Donohoe S. J. J.

State of Tennessee

To the Sheriff of Blount County Gent
You are hereby Commaned to summon Daniel
Shields personally to be and appear before the
Honorable the Supreme Court of Errors and Appeals
at the Court House in Knoxville on the fourth
Monday of November next then & there to answer a
Bill in Equity exhibited against him together with
Samuel Harris by Miles Cunningham and
that he shall not omit to do and have you
then show this Subpoena. Witness Thomas
Emmison Clerk of said Court the fourth
Monday of May 1847.

Thomas Emmison by his
Deputy
John A. Gamble

Subpa in Equity

Wiles Cunningham
25

Banner Shiloh

Jan. 31st - Oct. 1814
to Nov. 1814.

Re^d November 16
1814

Charles Donohoo Esq

Re^d November 17
1814

Charles Donohoo Esq

State of Tennessee

To Barrer Shields his Agents or Attorneys and the Sheriff
of Blount County Georgia

Whereas it is represented to us by the Bill of Complaint of Miles Cum-
mingsham that he will be greatly injured by the execution of a judgment lately ren-
dered in the Circuit Court of your County in a cause wherein Barrer Shields
is Plaintiff and Rubin Charles, Samuel Harris and him the said Miles Cum-
mingsham, and praying a Writ of Injunction until a Hearing can be had
thereon in our said Court sitting as a Court of Equity to prevent of Errors &
Appeals. sitting as a Court of Equity —

Thus we therefore to Command you & every of you that
you and every of the Persons before named do desert from all further proce-
dings upon said judgment so far as respects said Cummingsham until
a Hearing can be had of the Bill of Complaint of said Cummingsham
in our said Court and until your said further Order from us in
the premises. Witness Thomas Ermonson Clerk of our said Court
the fourth Monday of May 1844. Thomas Ermonson by his Dep.

John A. Gamble

Injunction
Miles Cunningham
vs.
Barnes Shields & Co

of 12th Oct. 1814 to
Nov. 1814

Recd 14th October 1814

D. Russell & Co.

The State of Tennessee,

TO

Any two Justices of Blount County

GREETING:

Know ye, that we, in confidence of your prudence and fidelity, have appointed you, and do hereby give unto you, or any one of you, full power and authority to examine all Witnesses as well on behalf of *Miles Cunningham* Complainant, as of *Ramon Shuley Hammett Harris* Defendant, in a matter of controversy in our *Supreme Court of Errors and Appeals for the Second Circuit* depending, on their respective corporal oaths first taken before you, or any one of you, in due form of law, (or their affirmation if of that sect called Quakers)—and that you take such their examination, and reduce them to writing, in your own hand writing, or in the hand writing of the deponent in your presence; stating in each deposition specially as near as may be the age of the deponent, the parties present, and the time and place of taking the same: and when you have so taken them you are to send the same without delay to the Clerk and Master of our said court at Knoxville, under your seal or seals distinctly certified and set forth, together with this writ.

WITNESS

Thomas Emerson

Clerk and Master of our said court at office the *fourth* Monday of *May* 1815.

The Emerson by his Dep.
John A. Gamble

Did. No.

Miles Cunningham

vs
Samuel Shields &
Samuel Harris

Sp. Ct. May 1815

STATE OF TENNESSEE,

To the SHERIFF of Blount COUNTY, GREETING:

WE command you to summon Joseph Alexander Esq & Alexander Esq
and Alexander Esq

personally to be and appear before the ^{judges} ~~justices~~ of our ^{superior} ~~county~~ court of ~~pleas and quarter sessions~~, to be held for
the ~~county~~ of 2nd Circuit at the court house in Knoxville on the fourth

Monday of May next, then and there to testify and the truth to say on behalf of
Benjamin Shields Samuel Harris in a certain
matter of controversy in said court depending, wherein Miles Cunningham is

Plaintiff, and said Shields & Harris are
Defendant and this he shall in no wise omit under the penalty prescribed by law.

WITNESS Thomas Emmerson clerk of our said court, the 4th

Monday of March in the year of our Lord 1817.

Thos Emmerson

Sub
Cunningham

Shells & Harris

Dec 4 1815

Joseph Alexander
Alex^r Hart and
Alex Hall -

Ex^r are all

Charles Lombard
Shuff

1815

1815

1815



Thomas

Thomas

Reper



STATE OF TENNESSEE.

To the SHERIFF of *Knox* COUNTY, GREETING:

WE command you to summon *Ebenezer Shields*

personally to be and appear before the ^{*Judges Supreme Error & Appeals*} ~~judges~~ of our ~~county~~ court of pleas and ~~quarter sessions~~ ^{*to be held for*}
the county of ~~the 2^d Circuit~~ at the court house in *Musculonge* on the

Monday of ~~the 4th of~~ ~~next~~, then and there to testify and the truth to say on behalf of
Banner Shields & Sam Harris in a certain

matter of controversy in said court depending, wherein *Miles Cunningham*
Plaintiff, and *said Shields & Harris*

Defendant, and this ~~he~~ shall in no wise omit under the penalty prescribed by law.

WITNESS *Thomas Garrison* clerk of our said court, the *4*
Monday of *November* in the year of our Lord 1815

Th Garrison

Sub
Cromaghnam

to
Shields & Hasous

to Nov 28 1875

described the
29 Nov 1875

J. Colbowy M^d

Done & signed

W^m

done & signed

W^m

The State of Tennessee,

TO THE SHERIFF OF *Blount* County GREETING:

You are hereby commanded to summon *Mr Jeffries*
personally to appear before the Judges of our Supreme Court of Errors and Appeals in the Second
circuit at the court-house, in Knoxville on the *4th* Monday of *May* next, to testi-
fy and the truth to say in a suit in Equity depending in said court between *White*
Cummins complainant and *Samuel Childs*
& *Sam^r Harris* Defendant for and on behalf of the *Heirs*
and this shall not omit under the penalty prescribed by law. Witness

Thos. Cummins Clerk of our said Court at office the *4* Monday of *May*
1815.

John Hamble
Dell

⁴
Lulu pa.

Cum gratia

To
Shields Harris

Executed

D. Russell *off*

Given 4 Monday
in Nov: 1815

Miles Cunningham }
Shields & Harris }
Staten at New York 1819

If this Bill has any object I presume it is to obtain
a decree against Shields the other Respondent for one
moiety of the Judgment obtained in the complainant's Bill
The Respondent ^{Shields} insists that the complainant
has no Equity in his Bill on which the Court was
found a decree ^{against him} by every allegation therein contained
read true

McCampbell atty
for Shields

Birmingham: Printed
by
Shelds & Harris

Cunningham }
vs }
Shields & Harris } Mary Term 1815 Statement

The Bill charges that the Defendant Shields sold
negro fellow to one Reuben Charles for \$250
that Charles applied to the complainant to
be security for the payment of said sum
which the complainant refused unless Charles
could give another good & solvent man with him
which Charles could not do until the Defend-
ant Shields by making a contract with Harris
induced Harris to give as security by agreeing
Harris should never pay any part of the debt

2nd The Bill charges the negro was to
be free shortly after his sale by Shields and
that Shields sold him & warranted him a slave
for life

3rd That Charles was full of property when
he bought the negro but for excuse had
to leave the Country & left nothing to pay
the debt

4th The Bill charges by the fraud and
secret agreement of Harris & Shields the
complainant was made security for the
debt

The answer of Shields denies all material
allegations in the Bill

The answer of Harris admits all except the charge
of a view in Harris to defraud complainant
particularly

E. Parsons atty
for comp

Birmingham
1819
Sheets & Harris
Statement

ms. 10

For Debt

Wm. Leffers

Chenezer Shields

Jo: Alexander

Alex^r Hart

Alex^r Nail

63
62

Miles Cunningham

"

Banner Shields
& Saml Harris

~~1815~~
1815